IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

KAYNAN FITCHNER, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Chase
Fitchner, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

S.C. CASE NO.: SC08-174

LIFESOUTH COMMUNITY BLOOD
CENTERS, INC.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

RAYMOND T. ELLIGETT, JR.
Florida Bar No. 261939
AMY S. FARRIOR
Florida Bar No. 684174
Buell & Elligett, P.A.
3003 W. Azeele Street
Suite 100
Tampa, Florida 33609
813-874-2600 (telephone)
813-874-1760 (facsimile)

DEAN R. LeBOEUF
Florida Bar No. 0328715
RHONDA S. BENNETT
Florida Bar No. 0854360
Brooks, LeBoeuf, Bennett,
Foster & Gwartney, P.A.
909 East Park Avenue
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
850-222-2000 (telephone)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Kaynan Fitchner, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Chase Fitchner, deceased, refers to herself as the “Petitioner.”

Petitioner refers to Respondent, LifeSouth Community Blood Centers, Inc., as “LifeSouth.”

Petitioner refers to her deceased child as “Chase Fitchner.”

Petitioner refers to the donor who donated the blood involved here as “Donor.”

Petitioner refers to the record on appeal by the prefix “R,” followed by the volume and page number.

All references to statutes are to Florida Statutes (2005), unless noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Overview and Statement of the Case.

This case seeks review of a First District opinion reversing a jury verdict and judgment in favor of the Petitioner and remanding the Petitioner's case against LifeSouth to the trial court to dismiss the Complaint for failure to comply with the presuit requirements of Chapter 766, Florida Statutes ("Medical Malpractice and Related Matters"). There should not be any dispute in the facts surrounding the statutory construction issue in this case, but to the extent there are, the Petitioner as the prevailing party in the jury trial is entitled to have all conflicts in evidence and inferences therefrom resolved in her favor.¹

Petitioner sued LifeSouth for negligently collecting diseased blood contaminated with West Nile Virus. LifeSouth then sold this blood to Shands Hospital, which was Chase's treating hospital (R 1/1-4; 13/2417). The contaminated blood was then transfused into Petitioner's seven-year-old son, Chase. The diseased blood put Chase in a coma and ultimately caused his death (R 13/2417).

¹ See, e.g., *Republic National Life Insurance Company v. Valdes*, 348 So. 2d 566 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977).

Pursuant to this Court's holding in *Silva*² and the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Damiano*,³ that a blood bank, sued merely in its capacity as a supplier of blood, does not render *diagnosis, care or treatment* to the blood recipient, Petitioner filed her Complaint as a tort action, and not a suit for medical malpractice. She alleged, *inter alia*, that LifeSouth had negligently failed to implement reasonable screening procedures for the individual donor from whom the infected blood was collected that was transfused into Chase (R 1/3).

LifeSouth responded to Petitioner's Complaint by moving to dismiss based on Petitioner's failure to comply with the presuit requirements of Chapter 766 (R 1/14-19). The trial court denied LifeSouth's motion to dismiss. In its ruling, the court recognized that blood banks are health care providers as contemplated by Chapter 766, but ruled that the acts about which the Petitioner complained did not constitute medical malpractice pursuant to the provisions of that Chapter (R 1/62-63).⁴

² *Silva v. Southwest Florida Blood Bank, Inc.*, 601 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1992).

³ *Community Blood Centers of South Florida v. Damiano*, 697 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

⁴ As noted below, LifeSouth could have obtained appellate review from this ruling, but did not.

After a two-week trial on the stipulated single issue of donor comprehension (see below), the jury found for the Petitioner, and the trial court entered judgment in favor of the Petitioner (R 13/2426; 16/2921).

LifeSouth appealed and the First District reversed in an opinion reported as *LifeSouth Community Blood Centers, Inc. v. Fitchner*, 970 So. 2d 379 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). The First District remanded the case to the trial court to dismiss the Petitioner's action for failure to comply with the pre-suit requirements of Chapter 766, leaving Petitioner with no remedy due to the expiration of the statute of limitations.

The opinion certified the case to this Court as containing the following question of great public importance: "Did the presuit notice requirements of §766.106(2), Florida Statutes, apply to a blood bank that is supplying blood to a patient?" The Petitioner filed a notice to invoke jurisdiction based on this certification, and on the basis that the First District's decision conflicted with *Silva* and *Damiano*. This Court accepted jurisdiction in its order of April 24, 2008.

Statement of the Facts.

In August 2002, Chase Fitchner, who was then seven years old, was admitted to Shands Hospital to undergo an umbilical cord transplant for the treatment of a genetic condition known as Fanconi's anemia (R 13/2417). After a

successful transplant but during that hospitalization, Chase received blood which the hospital had purchased from LifeSouth (R 13/2417). Chase contracted West Nile Virus from that blood. The virus caused significant damage and ultimately caused Chase's death in July, 2004 (R 13/2417). An investigation was initiated by the Center for Disease Control, once Chase's problem was diagnosed as West Nile Virus. That investigation confirmed Chase had contracted West Nile Virus from infected blood supplied to the hospital by LifeSouth (R 53/5; 57/695).

LifeSouth opposed Petitioner's efforts to obtain information about the blood donation both before⁵ and after suit. Over LifeSouth's objection, the circuit court permitted Petitioner to take a limited videotaped deposition of the Donor, pursuant to a confidentiality order (R 1/138-143). This native Spanish-speaking Donor's deposition demonstrated his difficulty in understanding and reading English (R 56/475-545). His testimony established that LifeSouth had breached blood banking standards when it accepted blood from this Donor despite his inability to comprehend all of the questions on the "single donation record" and the written materials regarding blood donor responsibilities, which were given to him in English (R 55/396-399, 462). The five levels of safety for blood banking include donor interviews, a major purpose of which is to minimize the risk of undetectable

⁵ Petitioner's letter requesting presuit information is attached to LifeSouth's "Notice of Correction" filed in the First District on December 7, 2007.

or difficult to detect diseases, which West Nile Virus was at that time (R 55/359, 388-394; 57/690; 58/744).

If a blood donor does not have a good, clear understanding of the screening questions and the written instructions, he should be deferred and his blood should not be taken (R 55/395; 58/744). This standard was acknowledged in the pretrial and amended pretrial compliance filed by LifeSouth, which stated:

The Defendant denies liability in this case, and affirmatively states that the issue of liability is limited to whether the LifeSouth personnel who interacted with the implicated donor on September 18, 2002 had clear communication with him during the donor screening process.

(R 12/2283; 13/2356) (emphasis added).

Before and at trial, LifeSouth and the Petitioner repeatedly agreed that the sole issue for the jury was whether the Donor and LifeSouth personnel had clear enough communication to qualify him as a donor, or whether he should have been deferred based on his limited ability to communicate in English (R 12/2417; 53/4-5; 70/2248, 2250; 71/2349; 74/2486, 2489, 2496, 2499).⁶ Based on the agreed limited scope of the trial, the parties also agreed that the Petitioner would not offer evidence that LifeSouth had received an alert shortly before the donation in

⁶ LifeSouth attempted to make a broader causation argument when moving for a directed verdict, arguing it had not stipulated, but had agreed the only issue was whether LifeSouth had developed a rapport with the Donor. The court rejected this attempt saying, “What’s the difference between an agreement and a stipulation?” (R 67/1956).

question regarding the dangers associated with blood transfusions and West Nile Virus (R 67/1955; 73/2486, 2496, 2499).

At trial, the jury viewed the Donor's videotaped deposition, where he was assisted over 70 times by his wife in translating questions, and where the Donor testified that he had asked for an interpreter and documents written in Spanish on his first donation, but was told neither was available, yet he was permitted to donate blood anyway (R 56/475-545).

LifeSouth donor screeners testified that if they had known the Donor requested a Spanish interpreter and Spanish documents prior to his first donation, they would have deferred him on subsequent donations, and not doing so violated LifeSouth's own rules (R 56/462; 59/845-846; 64/1547, 1562, 1572; 65/1740; 66/1851; Pl. Ex. 6, pp. 2-3).

When LifeSouth wanted to inform the Donor that he had been exposed to the West Nile Virus, it sent him that letter in Spanish (R 59/841-843).

The jury, on the stipulated single issue of donor comprehension, found that LifeSouth had negligently collected blood from the Donor, and the trial court entered judgment in favor of the Petitioner (R 13/2426; 16/2921).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court held in *Silva* that (1) a blood bank that merely supplied blood was not providing treatment, diagnosis or care, and that (2) a blood bank was not a health care provider as then defined by Florida Statutes. In 2003, the legislature overturned the second holding in *Silva* by defining blood banks as health care providers, but did nothing to change the first holding.

The First District erred by treating the 2003 amendments as reversing *Silva*'s "care or treatment" holding, and by requiring Petitioner to comply with the presuit notice and screening requirements set forth in Chapter 766, when LifeSouth provided no care or treatment to Chase Fitchner. Since Chase Fitchner did not receive care or treatment from LifeSouth, Petitioner had no ability to comply with the Florida medical malpractice presuit requirements.

The First District's opinion gives blood banks more protection under Chapter 766 than that enjoyed by any other health care provider because it eliminates the requirement that the blood banks provide treatment or care to the claimant before enjoying the protections of Florida's Medical Malpractice Act.

As a result, the First District's opinion effectively denies any Florida citizen who is injured as a result of a blood bank's negligent procurement of blood, his or her constitutional right to access the courts. In this case, the First District has left Petitioner with no remedy, despite a jury determination that LifeSouth negligently

collected blood that was ultimately transfused into Chase Fitchner, causing his death.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PRESUIT NOTICE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS CONTAINED IN CHAPTER 766, FLORIDA STATUTES, CANNOT LOGICALLY APPLY TO A BLOOD BANK THAT IS MERELY SUPPLYING BLOOD TO A BLOOD RECIPIENT.

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews de novo the district court's decision on the issue of statutory interpretation. *McDonald v. State*, 957 So. 2d 605, 610 (Fla. 2007). As noted, the Petitioner as the party who prevailed before the jury is entitled to have any conflicts in the evidence or inferences therefrom resolved in her favor.

B. The 2003 revisions to Chapter 766 did not overrule the holdings in *Silva* and *Damiano* that a blood bank that is merely the supplier of blood does not provide *care* or *treatment* as defined by Florida's Medical Malpractice Act.

The 2003 revisions of Chapter 766 did not amend the relevant presuit requirements of that chapter, or reverse this Court's holding in *Silva* that a blood bank that is merely the supplier of blood does not provide care or treatment. Therefore, the First District erred when it concluded the 2003 amendments overruled *Silva* and *Damiano's* holding that a blood bank that merely sells a product does not provide treatment or care to a patient.

It is irrelevant in *this* case that LifeSouth is now defined as a “health care provider” because LifeSouth, sued merely in its capacity as a supplier of blood, still did not provide *care* or *treatment* to *the claimant* (Chase Fitchner). Because LifeSouth did not provide *care* or *treatment* to Chase Fitchner, Petitioner’s claim is not one for medical malpractice for Chapter 766 purposes, and the notice and presuit screening requirements are inapplicable. *See J. B. v. Sacred Heart Hospital of Pensacola*, 635 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1994).

1. Florida’s two-prong test for inclusion under Florida’s Medical Malpractice Act.

In *Silva*, this Court reviewed consolidated cases involving actions brought against a blood bank to recover damages on behalf of blood recipients who contracted HIV after receiving transfusions with blood products supplied by the defendant blood bank. The issue was whether blood banks are subject to the two-year statute of limitations for medical malpractice suits or the four-year negligence statute of limitations. In resolving this issue, the Court applied a two-prong analysis: (1) whether the action arose out of any medical diagnosis, *care*, or *treatment* and (2) whether such diagnosis, treatment, or care was rendered by a “provider of health care.” This Court determined that the second prong need only be addressed in those cases where the first prong was answered in the affirmative.

Because the terms “diagnosis,” “care” and “treatment” were not specifically defined in the statutes, this Court held that the words should be accorded their plain and unambiguous meaning:

In ordinary, common parlance, the average person would understand ‘diagnosis, treatment, or care’ to mean ascertaining a patient’s medical condition through examination and testing, prescribing and administering a course of action to effect a cure, and meeting the patient’s daily needs during the illness. This parallels the dictionary definitions of those terms. According to *Webster’s Third International Dictionary* (1981), ‘diagnosis’ means ‘the art or act of identifying a disease from its signs and symptoms.’ ‘Treatment’ means ‘the action or manner of treating a patient medically or surgically.’ ‘Care’ means ‘provide for or attend to needs or perform necessary personal services (as for a patient or child).’ Likewise, in medical terms, ‘diagnosis’ means ‘[t]he determination of the nature of a disease.’ ‘Treatment’ means ‘[m]edical or surgical management of a patient.’ And ‘care’ means ‘the application of knowledge to the benefit of...[an] individual.

601 So. 2d at 1187 (citations omitted).

In applying the ordinary meaning of the relevant terms to their facts, this Court noted that under the allegations of both cases under review, the defendant blood bank had sold the blood product to the treating hospitals, which in turn sold it to the plaintiffs. Based on those facts (the same facts present for Chase Fitchner) this Court held that a blood bank that is merely a supplier of blood does not provide diagnosis, care or treatment to the blood recipient. This Court explained that:

Neither the blood bank nor any of its employees had any knowledge or information about the recipients’ medical conditions. [The blood

bank] played no role in determining the nature of the plaintiff patients' illnesses, did not treat those patients, and did not attend to the personal needs of those patients. . . . Although there may be statutes and regulations governing the internal operations of blood banks, as to the specific plaintiffs in this case, [the blood bank] was merely the supplier of a product.

Id. at 1187.

This Court held that its determination that the blood bank did not render diagnosis, care or treatment to the plaintiff blood recipients would be controlling in **all** cases where the blood bank was merely a supplier of blood. *Id.* at 1189.

2. The Chapter 766 presuit notice requirements do not apply to a blood bank that merely supplies blood to an unknown recipient.

Based on the analysis set forth in *Silva*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Damiano* held that the presuit requirements of Chapter 766 do not apply to blood banks that merely supply blood to blood recipients. Relying primarily upon §766.203(2)(a), which provides that a plaintiff “shall conduct an investigation to ascertain that there are reasonable grounds to believe that: any named defendant in the litigation was negligent in the *care and treatment of the claimant* . . .,” the court determined that a blood recipient would be unable to comply with presuit requirements in cases against blood banks that were merely suppliers of blood, because the blood banks would have provided neither *care* nor *treatment* to the *claimant*. *Id.* at 952. The court noted that its holding was “in accord with the

principle that statutes restricting access to the courts must be strictly construed in a manner that favors access.” *Weinstock v. Groth*, 629 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1993); *Silva*, 601 So. 2d at 1189.” *Id.* at 952.

Damiano is consistent with *J.B. v. Sacred Health Hospital of Pensacola*, 635 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the language of the notice and presuit screening requirements set forth in §766.106, Florida Statutes (1989), which defined “claim for medical malpractice” as a “claim arising out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services.” It also cited to §766.202, Florida Statutes (1989), which defined “medical negligence,” as “medical malpractice, whether grounded in tort or in contract.” This Court held that “[r]eading these two sections in conjunction, we conclude that chapter 766’s notice and presuit screening requirements apply to claims that ‘aris[e] out of the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services.’ §766.106(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989).” 635 So. 2d at 948-949. The Court concluded that where the plaintiff’s complaint did not allege that the defendant *hospital* (a health care provider as defined by §766.202) was negligent in the rendering of, or the failure to render, medical care or services *to the plaintiff*, the complaint did not state a medical malpractice claim for chapter 766 purposes.

3. The First District’s opinion cites no statutory language or legislative history indicating that the legislature intended to overrule *Silva* or *Damiano* on this point.

In its decision below, the First District held that neither *Silva* nor *Damiano* controlled Petitioner’s case, first because *Silva*’s holding was limited to whether the medical malpractice statute of limitations applied to blood banks, and second because the 2003 amendments to Chapter 766 broadened the act’s application to blood banks. 970 So. 2d at 379.

The Petitioner has always acknowledged that §766.202 was amended in 2003 to include blood banks within the definition of a “health care provider.” However, this amendment did not reverse this Court’s additional requirement set forth in *Silva*, requiring that blood banks like LifeSouth also provide “care” or “treatment” to claimants (like Chase Fitchner), before they are entitled to the presuit notice and screening provisions set forth in Chapter 766.

The definition of the terms “*care*” and “*treatment*” were addressed in *Silva*. Because the terms “*care*” and “*treatment*” are not defined in Chapter 766, one looks to this Court’s decision regarding the meaning of those terms, and their plain meaning, discussed in *Silva*, as quoted above. *See State v. Mitro*, 700 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1997).

This case does not involve a factual situation, where LifeSouth rendered “care” or “treatment” to Chase. Indeed, LifeSouth has never suggested that it

provided any service to Chase, other than selling blood products to his treating hospital.⁷ Thus, under the two-prong analysis set forth in *Silva* and followed in *Damiano*, it is irrelevant that LifeSouth now meets the definition of a “health care provider” pursuant to §766.202(4), Florida Statutes (2003).

A health care provider who does not render medical care or services to *the claimant* is not entitled to Chapter 766’s presuit notice and screening requirements. *J. B. v. Sacred Heart Hospital of Pensacola*, 635 So. 2d at 949. The fact that blood banks are now included in the definition of “health care provider” does not alter the relationship between the blood recipient and the blood bank or otherwise metamorphose the blood bank’s activities into “care” or “treatment” of the “claimant,” when the blood bank merely supplied its product to the hospital.

“The legislature is presumed to know the existing law when a statute is enacted, including ‘judicial decisions on the subject concerning which it subsequently enacts a statute.’” *Crescent Miami Center, LLC v. Florida Dept. of Revenue*, 903 So. 2d 913, 918 (Fla. 2005). In *Crescent* this Court also held that, “without any clear express changes on the statute’s face, the amendment did not recede from our decisions rendered prior to the amendment’s enactment.” *Id.* Similarly, here there is no clear, express change in Chapter 766 that recedes from

⁷ As discussed below, in other situations a blood bank might provide services to the patient, such as blood matching.

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