IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYNAN FITCHNER, as Personal
Representative of the Estate
of Chase Fitchner,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.

LIFESOUTH COMMUNITY BLOOD
CENTERS, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

Case No. SC08-174

First DCA Case No. 1D06-4475

8th Cir. Case No. 01-04-CA-1574

**ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT,
LIFESOUTH COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTERS, INC.**

On Review from the District Court of Appeal,
First District, State of Florida

Christine R. Davis
Florida Bar No. 569372
CARLTON FIELDS, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 190
Tallahassee, FL 32302-0190
Tel: (850) 224-1585
Fax: (850) 222-0398

Robert E. Biasotti
Florida Bar No. 0104272
CARLTON FIELDS, P.A.
Post Office Box 2861

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

Shortly after the Silva decision, the Fourth District addressed the question of whether a blood bank is a "health care provider" for purposes of requiring plaintiffs to comply with medical malpractice presuit notice and screening requirements in effect at that time. See Cmty. Blood Ctrs. of S. Fla., Inc. v. Damiano, 697 So. 2d 948 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Relying on Silva, the Fourth District held that "[w]ithout a clear expression of legislative intent to the contrary," blood banks were not covered by the presuit requirements of section 766.106, in actions for supplying contaminated blood. Id. at 952.

2. The Post-Silva Change To Florida Law Concerning Blood Banks

In 2003, the Florida Legislature provided a clear expression of its intent on this issue. Florida was in the midst of a medical malpractice insurance crisis that affected all of its citizens. The Legislature made extensive findings that the crisis could only be eliminated with dramatic statutory changes. See Ch. 2003-416, §1, Laws of Fla. With the full knowledge of the statutory interpretations in Silva and Damiano, the Legislature expressed its clear intent to override those decisions, substantially rewriting chapter 766, in particular, broadening its application to blood banks.

To begin with, the Legislature expressly provided that blood banks are healthcare providers. Id.; §766.202(4), Fla.

Stat. (2003). The Legislature also amended section 766.102, to incorporate the "health care provider" definition from section 766.202(4) (which now included "blood banks"). It defined "medical negligence" as a claim against a healthcare provider "arising out of the rendering, or failure to render, medical care or services." §766.102, Fla. Stat. (2003).

It bears emphasis that the language employed by the Legislature in these amended statutes was drawn directly from the Silva decision, where this Court recognized and articulated the conceptual distinction between claims for "diagnosis, treatment, or care" and claims for "medical services":

. . . even if the legislature was making a broad policy statement that blood banks provide a "medical service," the plain wording of section 95.11(4)(b) indicates that the legislature intended for the shorter limitations period to apply only to **a narrow class of medical services**. The statute of limitations does not speak to **all medical services**, but only to **"diagnosis, treatment, or care"** by a health care provider. **Had the legislature intended a broader coverage, it would have used the "medical services" language from the chapter 69-157 preamble.**

Silva, 601 So. 2d at 1188. In the preamble of chapter 69-157, Laws of Fla., the Legislature characterized "the process of collecting and processing human blood for transfusion purposes" as "a desirable and necessary medical service."

Hence, the 2003 Legislature adopted for Chapter 766 the term "medical services," described by this Court in Silva as a broader category of claims than claims that are based on "diagnosis, treatment, or care." See Silva, 601 So. 2d at 1188. The Legislature amended sections 766.106, 766.1115, 766.112, 766.113, 766.201, 766.203, 766.2021, and 768.21, Florida Statutes (2003), which previously referred to "medical malpractice" claims, to now refer to the broader term: claims for "medical negligence."

The Legislature also enacted two additional statutes in 2003 that pertained exclusively to blood banks. First, the Legislature enacted §381.06014(2), Fla. Stat. (2003), a new law requiring that all "blood establishments" in Florida must comply with 21 C.F.R. § 600-640 (2003), the federal regulations governing blood banks. See Ch. 2003-38, Laws of Fla. Under those regulations, every step of the blood collection process--including all blood donor interviews--must be conducted or supervised by a qualified physician. 21 C.F.R. §§ 640.3, 640.4.

Second, the Legislature amended section 672.316(5), Florida Statutes (2003), to eliminate the then-existing statutory exception by which blood might be considered a "product," subject to implied warranties under the Uniform Commercial Code ("UCC"). When section 672.316(5) was originally enacted in

1969, it included a statutory exception by which human blood could be found to be subject to implied warranties:

The procurement, processing, storage, distribution, or use of whole blood, plasma, blood products, and blood derivatives for the purpose of injecting or transfusing the same, or any of them, into the human body for any purpose whatsoever is declared to be the rendering of a service by any person participating therein and does not constitute a sale, whether or not any consideration is given therefor; and the implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose are not applicable **as to a defect that cannot be detected or removed by a reasonable use of scientific procedures or techniques.**

§672.316(5), Fla. Stat. (1969). Hence, under the statute in effect when Silva and Damiano were decided, implied warranties applied to blood that contained a defect that could be detected or removed by "scientific procedures or techniques." Id.

In 2003, however, the bolded part of section 672.316(5) (above) was deleted. Hence, the process of collecting and processing human blood for transfusion was now considered, without exception, to be a medical service and not a product subject to implied warranties. See Ch. 2003-74, Laws of Fla.

Notably, even under the old statute, blood contaminated with West Nile Virus would not have been subject to implied warranties because, as all the experts in this case agreed, West Nile Virus could not be detected in blood by any known scientific procedure or technique. Exactly the opposite was

true in Silva, where the blood bank in that case was alleged to have represented that "its blood supply was safe and free from HIV **because of the testing procedures used.**" Silva, 601 So. 2d 1186. Hence, under the 1969 UCC version of section 672.316(5), which was in force when Silva was decided, blood contaminated with HIV was subject to implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose. That is yet another reason why Silva does not control in this case.

Finally, in 2003, the legislature enacted several new statutes that expanded protections to all healthcare providers; for example, section 766.118, Florida Statutes (2003), which imposed a limit on non-economic damages in all judgments arising from medical negligence claims against healthcare providers.

When read together, the sweeping changes that were made to Chapter 766 in 2003 are clear and unambiguous. By including blood banks in the definition of "health care provider," the legislature expressly declared that blood banks provide health care services. It would make no sense for the legislature to designate "blood banks" as "health care providers," but then provide that the screening and collection of that blood--the essential and fundamental service that blood banks provide--is not a medical service. That would impermissibly render this explicit change in the statute meaningless. See Heart of Adoptions, Inc. v. J.A., 963 So. 2d 189, 198-99 (Fla. 2007)

(holding that "the Legislature does not intend to enact useless provisions, and courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless.").

D. Plaintiff's Suggestion That Enforcing Florida's Presuit Notice Requirement Denies Her Access To Courts Is Without Merit

Plaintiff claims that the First District's decision enforcing Florida's presuit notice requirements denies her access to courts. She is wrong for several reasons.

1. Plaintiff's Belated Claim That She Could Not Provide An Affidavit From A Medical Expert To Support Her Presuit Notice Is Not Supported By This Record

Plaintiff complains that she could not have complied with the presuit requirements of chapter 766. There is nothing in this record to support that claim. As her own presuit document demand to LifeSouth demonstrates, Plaintiff was able to request copies of all documents pertaining to Chase's infected blood transfusion from both Shands and LifeSouth, which is precisely what she did. Under §766.204(2), Fla. Stat. (2003), if Plaintiff did not promptly receive the documents she requested from LifeSouth, she was not required to provide an affidavit from a medical expert with any presuit notice to LifeSouth.

When the Legislature changed chapter 766 in 2003 to define blood banks as health care providers, it imposed on all blood banks new obligations with which all healthcare providers--

including blood banks--must comply. Under section 766.204(1), healthcare providers must make available to any claimant "copies of any medical record relevant to any litigation of a medical negligence claim." If a healthcare provider fails to provide the requested information to a claimant within 10 business days, the healthcare provider waives the requirement for written medical corroboration. See §766.204(2), Fla. Stat. (2003).

Hence, when the Legislature designated that blood banks are healthcare providers, it automatically granted a new statutory right to all blood recipients, including this Plaintiff--the right to obtain relevant documents from a blood bank before filing a medical negligence lawsuit. Moreover, if LifeSouth had failed to comply with that request (and there is no evidence here that LifeSouth failed to comply with any document request), it would have waived the right to require an accompanying presuit affidavit with the notice of intent. See section 766.204(2). This new right guarantees access to courts for all individuals who may have a potential medical negligence claim against a blood bank.

Plaintiff suggests that "[b]ecause neither Petitioner nor her minor son had any relationship with the blood bank or the infected donor, she had no legal right, prior to filing suit, to confidential information in the possession of LifeSouth

regarding the individual donor at issue." IB at 30-31. That argument is without merit.

Plaintiff, like every recipient who obtains blood from a blood bank, knew from the hospital's records the precise source of each unit of donated blood that was transfused. Under chapter 766, blood recipients are entitled to obtain from blood banks the details of the blood testing and screening processes for the specific blood units they received, including the blood donation documents--except for the identity of the donor. See §381.0043, Fla. Stat. (2005)(a blood bank "may not be compelled to disclose the identity or any identifying characteristics of a person who donates blood").

Had Plaintiff established below that LifeSouth failed to provide her with information in its possession that was essential to her case, then, by law, Plaintiff would not have needed to obtain an expert before filing a lawsuit. Under the statutory framework, LifeSouth would have been deemed to have waived that requirement. Indeed, LifeSouth might also have exposed itself to serious sanctions, including the potential striking of LifeSouth's defenses, if it failed to provide any documents to Plaintiff that it was obligated to provide. See §§ 766.106(7), 766.205(3), 766.206(3), Fla. Stat. (2003).

But Plaintiff never asserted that LifeSouth failed to comply with its presuit document production obligations and

thereby waived its right to require a presuit notice with an expert affidavit. She argued only that the statute did not apply to her claim in the first instance.

Simply put, there is no record basis on which this Court should speculate that requiring Plaintiff to file a presuit notice unconstitutionally denied her access to courts. Plaintiff can hardly argue, after the fact, that she had no ability to comply with Florida's statutory presuit investigation process when she never asserted that claim below. This is particularly so here, where LifeSouth's timely invocation of its statutory presuit rights occurred at a point in time when Plaintiff still could have complied with those rights.

Had Plaintiff sent LifeSouth a presuit notice, LifeSouth would have been afforded an opportunity to avoid litigation entirely, and could have elected to resolve Plaintiff's medical negligence claim through binding arbitration under section 766.207. Under that statute, LifeSouth's potential liability for non-economic damages would have been limited to \$250,000. Plaintiff's conscious and strategic election not to comply with the mandatory presuit notice process deprived LifeSouth of that opportunity.

2. Plaintiff Could Have Served LifeSouth With A Presuit Notice Without Attaching An Expert Affidavit; Because She Did Not Do That, Her Access To Courts Argument Is Waived

Under the statutory presuit scheme, Plaintiff could have served a presuit notice on LifeSouth without including an affidavit from a healthcare provider if LifeSouth failed to provide documents to her, as she now asserts in advancing her access to courts argument. Section 766.204(2), Florida Statutes, provides that the failure of a healthcare provider to provide copies of medical records at a reasonable charge to a plaintiff who requests such records "shall constitute evidence of failure of that party to comply with good faith discovery requirements and shall waive the requirement of written medical corroboration by the requesting party." (emphasis added).

Notably, however, even when a defendant healthcare provider fails to comply with the good faith discovery requirements of Chapter 766, the plaintiff still has an obligation to serve a presuit notice. See Otto v. Rodriguez, 710 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (failure to provide full and complete medical records to plaintiff in malpractice action, which prevented plaintiff from obtaining medical affidavit as required by statute, did not constitute waiver of required notice of intent to file suit); Wilkinson v. Golden, 630 So. 2d 1238 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (failure

by a healthcare provider to comply with presuit requirements only waives the right to receive medical corroboration).

The reason for that requirement is simple. The purpose behind the notice of intent to file suit is "to give the defendant notice of the incident in order to allow investigation of the matter and promote presuit settlement of the claim." Kukral v. Mekras, 679 So. 2d 278, 282 (Fla. 1996). In contrast, the purpose of the corroborating medical opinion is to substantiate the legitimacy of the claim and prevent the filing of baseless litigation. Id.

In this case, Plaintiff never suggested that Florida's presuit notice requirements were unconstitutional as applied to her because it was impossible for her to comply with those requirements. LifeSouth raised its objection that Plaintiff failed to comply with Florida's presuit notice in May 2004, well within the time when Plaintiff could have complied with the presuit notice requirements.

Instead, Plaintiff made a strategic decision not to comply with the presuit requirements, and elected to stand on her argument that her lawsuit against LifeSouth was not controlled by chapter 766. By doing so, Plaintiff sought to deprive LifeSouth of all of the statutory protections afforded to healthcare providers under Chapter 766--presuit notice

requirements, limitations on experts, special arbitration provisions, and limits on non-economic damages.

In light of her strategic decision to only raise her statutory argument, Plaintiff waived her new access to courts argument. Plaintiff cannot now be heard to claim that she could not comply with her presuit obligations. The fact is, she served LifeSouth with a presuit demand for documents. If LifeSouth's response to that request was inadequate (although the record suggests no such thing), Plaintiff had a remedy, and she still could have complied with her statutory obligations.

In all events, because Plaintiff raised her access to courts argument for the first time in her Motion for Rehearing to the First District, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See Fla. Dept. of Fin. Servs. v. Freeman, 921 So. 2d 598, 602 (Fla. 2006) (holding an "as applied" constitutional challenge cannot be raised for the first time on appeal); Thompson v. Napotnik, 923 So. 2d 537, 540 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (same); Bush v. Holmes, 886 So. 2d 340, 365 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(the constitutionality of the application of a statute "must be raised first at the trial level").

E. LifeSouth Is Entitled To Relief Based On The Other Issues It Raised On Appeal Which The First District Never Reached

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should answer the certified question "yes," and confirm that, under section

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